CHAPTER XII

WATER

THe story of Manchester’s water supply is the story of progress
from the town’s spring in Fountain Street to the huge undertakings
of Thitlmere and Haweswater.

The earliest records of the town’s water supply show that there
was one principal spring or fountain, rising in the plot of land
lying between what is now known as Fountain Street and Spring
Gardens, off Market Street. Water was conveyed from here in
stone pipes to the market-place. This spring was owned by the
inhabitants and supplied them with water for over two hundred
years, from 1506 to 1776, after which date the supply failed, owing
to the sinking of othe1 wells in the neighbourhood.

Towards the close of the eighteenth century the population was
increasing rapidly. Mills, worked by water power, were being built
on the banks of the rivers, which owners dammed up for their
own use. Sir Oswald Mosley, the then Lord of the Manor of
Manchester, constructed a pumping engine for raising water from
the River Medlock at Holt Town, near Beswick, a short distance
from the town. The water was conveyed to the Shudehill pits and
the Infirmary pond, where it was stored, and from whence it was
distributed by pipes to the lower parts of the town. As the amount
that could be taken from the river was limited, many people had to
get their supplies from wells.

It became obvious that a more abundant and a better supply
of water was necessary, and in 1809 rival schemes were promoted
in Parliament by private companies, These were vigorously opposed
by the Police Commussioners and by crowded town’s meetings,
which enthusiastically adopted the report of a committee which
advocated that the supply should be under the direction of the
town’s inhabitants. This proposal, however, was in advance of the
times, and municipalization did not come for another forty yeats.
The “Manchester and Salford Waterworks Company” succeeded
in carrying its Bill and purchased the works belonging to the Lord
of the Manor.



350 A CENTURY OF CITY GOVERNMENT

Tn 1844 the company was experiencing grear difficulty in meeting
all the demands occasioned by the rapid growth of the town, in
spite of sinking new wells and of making extra reservoirs, and Mr.
Bateman, at that time consulting engineer to the Waterworks
Company, later to the Manchester Corporation, 1ecommended that
water should be obtained from the River Etherow and its draining
area in the Longdendale Valley in Derbyshite. The Waterworks
Company promoted a Bill in Parliament in 1844, and a rival, the
South Lancashire Waterworks Company, promoted an alternative
scheme. The new Town Council, however, was determined that
the water supply should be in its own hands. It opposed the
South Lancashire Waterworks Bill, and informed the Parliamentary
Committee that it intended to apply for powers to buy out the
Manchester and Salford Waterworks Company, to obtain additional
supplies in the Longdendale Valley, and to levy a compulsory rate
on householders.

A Government inquiry was held in Manchester! to inquire into
the various schemes and the appalling state of Manchester’s water
supply was disclosed.

In the town there were then 46,577 houses, of which 23 per cent
were supplied internally with water, but the supply was only for a
short period each day. The number of houses supplied by taps in
the streets, from which the water was fetched by the tenants, was
28 per cent, and the number totally unsupplied by the Company
was about 49 per cent, which, at five and a half persons to a house,
represented a population of 125,000 persons. To this must be
added the cellar population of about 25,000, of whom 50 per cent
were totally unsupplied with water.

This meant that about half the population of Manchester had no
supply, except what they could get from pumps and carry to their
houses. These pumps were not public, but had been put up by
property owners, who charged their tenants about 1s. a quarter for
access to them. Even so, most of the pumps were locked up during
the greater part of the day. It is hardly surprising that many people
got their only water from wells, polluted by cess-pools and grave-
yards, and from the filthy rivers. So scarce and valuable was the
water that it was kept occasionally in cottages for weeks together
and used over and over again for washing floors, until the smell

1 January 1847.
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produced by it was intolerable! All the medical witnesses were
agreed that the high mortality for which Manchester was then dis-
tingnished was due more to the lack of pure water than to any
other single cause.

The Corporation sought power to make a compulsory rate for
taking the watet into every dwelling. 1t estimated that 1o million
gallons a day was needed, and the Company was only able to
provide 3 millions.

The Cotporation’s Bill for buying up the private Company and
for bringing extra supplies from Longdendale recetved the Royal
Assent on July 9, 1847. The chief feature of this Act was that it
was the first time that a Corporation had heen given powers to
levy an unlimited 1ate—that is to say a rate to cover the whole
cost of something which hitherto had been supplied by private
enterptise on a profit-making basis, On the other hand, both the
Domestic Water Rate levied upon the occupiers of propetty, and
the Public Water Rate levied upon the owners, might not be
greater than was necessary to cover the expenses.?

The Corporation, which paid £533,760 to the Manchester and
Salford Waterworks Company, did not actually take over the works
until January 1, 1851, in which year the new supply of water from
Longdendale was introduced into the town.® In 1855 the supply
was over 8 million gallons a day.

In spite of extensions of the waterworks? it soon became clear
that Manchester had grossly underestimated her capacity to carry
out Sir Joseph Heron’s undertaking to bring a supply of water
into every house. He said in 1847 that xo million gallons a day was
required, and it was not until 1855 that 8 millions were available.
Meanwhile the population had grown, and also the needs of the

£ 9T have scarcely been able to beat the smell of the room produced by washing
the floor with the water which had been kept several wecks to wash it over and
over again, and I have a stiong stomach” (Mr. Holland, Minutes of Evidence, Man-
chester Waterworks Bill, January 20, 1847).

2 Manchester Waters.orks Act, 1847, se¢ it

3 The Longdendale waterworks scheme, initiated under the Waterworks Act of
1847, was carried ont under the authority of that and subsequent Acts of 1848, 1863,
1865 and 1875, The works weie commenced in August 1848, and contmued until the
completion of the reservoirs at Audenshaw in 1884, the several reservoits being
brought into use as they were finished. The scheme was estimated to aflord a supply
of 24} million gallons of water per day in addition to the compensation water.

& Between 1851 and 18Gx half the gas profits went to help to pay for the water-
works, see below, p. 362.
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district. There was no difficulty in getting people to use the water—
although there were still paits of the town in which theie was
only one tap for the whole street or court—the difficulty was in
checking the use. Water closets were being installed, which added
to the difficulties of the Corporation, both by increasing the demand
for water and by accentuating the main drainage problem. As we
saw,! there were no provisions for tieating the sewage at this time
or until many years later, and one of the reasons why Manchester
stuck to the system of privy middens, and later to pail closets, when
other towns had gone over to water carriage, was the insufficiency
of the water supply. The Waterwotks Committee, in order to check
what they considered waste of water, wanted to charge extra for
each water closet, but they found that they had no legal power to
dos0.2In 1858 they brought forward a bill giving powers to charge
10s. for each water closet in houses rated at less than £30. How-
ever, the newly formed Manchester and Salford Sanitary Association,
supported by twelve medical men in the town who were convinced
of the injurious effect of the privy midden, took the matter up
with vigour. They opposed this clause of the Corporation’s Bill
before the Parliamentary Committee, and called Edwin Chadwick
and Robert Rawlinson as witnesses, who urged the necessity of
water cartiage on the grounds of health. Sit Joseph Heron, who
prided himself, and with some cause, that the section of the 1844
Act? insisting upon a separate privy and ashpit for every house had
been strictly enforced, used all his powers to prove that that system
was far better than one of water closets, and indeed, as worked in
Manchester, the most sanitary that could be devised. The Sanitary
Association, however, won and a charge of 4s. was allowed only
for extra water closets.*

Baths, however, were considered a luxury for many more years,
and an extra charge of 10s. for houses rated under £20 was enforced
until 1935,

Still the demand increased as the population of South Lancashire
grew. As the years went by, the other sources of supply near
Manchester were secured by surrounding towns, and in 1868 Mr.
Bateman reported to his Committee that the supply would only last

* See above, p. 173.

® Minutes of Waterworks Committee, October 19, 1854.

* See above, p. 286 4 This was abolished in 1935.
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for another eight or nine years at the present rate, and that 1t was
imperative that the question of extending the supply should be
considered.

Faced with the large financial outlay that the new scheme would
involve, the Committee procrastinated for about ten years. All this
time the demand was still increasing, consumption had reached
21 million gallons a day, and although the Longdendale woiks
had been extended, the maximum amount that could be supplied
from that source was 25 nullion gallons a day.*

In spite of all the efforts to keep the consumption in check,
people were washing moue fieely, ntroduaing water closets and
baths, and 1n the subuibs using water for stables and gardens, and
still water had not been brought into every house. In 1876, out of
70,366 houses, 14,000 were without an internal supply of water,
and there wete only about 20,000 houses with baths in the whole
city.

Mt. Bateman, who was also consulting engineer to the Liverpool
Corporation, had proposed that the two towns should have a joint
supply from the Lake District>—Ullswater and Haweswater, which
would supply 4o million gallons a day to each city. But the size
of this scheme frightened some of the membets of the Waterworks
Committee, and before Manchester could make up her mind to act,
Liverpool decided to have her own supply.® Manchester, left to
solve the problem alone, now realized that the Lake Distiict was
the only possible source of supply; Haweswater, Ullswater, Thirl-
mere were all equally suitable from the point of view of the experts.
Thirlmere was finally chosen, and Bateman intimated that between
40 and 3o million gallons a day could be obtained from it. In 1877
the plans were prepared.

Opposttion from the owner of the estate ended with his death,
but that from the Thitlmere Defence Association, which was afraid
that the beauties of the Lake District would be spoiled, had to be
met in Parliament. The ratcpayers, in spite of the opposition of
two members of the City Council, steadfastly supported the pro-
posal both at town’s meetings and at a subsequent poll, and in 1879
the Bill was passed.

The Thirlmere Aqueduct to Prestwich is 96 miles in length. It

2 Letter to Town Clerk from Mr. Bateman, May 22, 1875. 2 1873

3 From Wales.

Z
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supplies about 55 million gallons per day, or 40 million gallons
per day in dry weather, and of this, compensation water amounting
to 4} million gallons per day is sent down the St. John’s Beck.
Water was delivered through the first pipe to Manchester in
1894. The works were opened on October 12th at Thirlmere by
Alderman Sir John Harwood, who was then the Chairman of
the Waterworks Committee, and who had devoted much time
and energy to carrying through the scheme since its inception,
nearly twenty years previously. Speaking of the allegations made
by those who opposed the scheme that it would destioy the beauty
of the lake, he said: “Do you think the popularity of the district
will be lost because the superfluous water from the lake which
formerly flowed to the north and went to join the ocean now goes
to the south to quench the thirst and invigorate the frames of tired
men and women in the mills and workshops of Lancashire and
Cheshire?™?

By 1900 the consumption of water had risen to nearly 32 million
gallons per day, the increase during the previous ten years having
been at the rate of over one million gallons per day per annum.
As the consumption increased, additional pipes were laid from
Thirlmere, the second in 1904, the third in 1915, and the fourth in
1927,
In 1918 the Waterworks Committee reported that the demand
for water was {ast approaching the quantity available from the two
existing sources, Longdendale (20 million gallons) and Thirlmere
(40 million gallons). The consumption then reached a little over
51 million gallons per day and it was estimated that by 1932 the
average daily consumption would reach 65,125,000 and the re-
sources would be exhausted. Attention was therefme again turned
to H: , where Ity an additional supply of about
72 million gallons aday could be secured The Committee felt that
this should meet the needs of Manchester and district for another
sixty or seventy years. The Council approved the promotion of a
Bill in the next session of Parliament 10 empower the Corporation
10 acquire lands and construct waterworks at Haweswater, and the
necessary powers were granted on December 23, 1919.

Haweswater is about 80 miles from Manchester and lies in a

* The question of the amenitses is not yet solved, Some Lake District lovers hold
that the Corporation might make greater efforts to mauntain them.
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comparatively unfamiliar part of the Lake District. It has now
a water surface of 346 acres, but when the water level is raised
95 feet by the intended dam across Haweswater Beck, it will have
a water surface of neatly 1,000 acres. The aqueduct to the reservoir
at Heaton Park will be approximately 73 miles in length.

Since the Haweswater scheme was first settled the situation has
developed very differently from what was then anticipated. At the
rate at which the consumption of water had increased up to 1919,
the Council was certainly justified in assuming that the nciease
would continue. The population was increasing, and the post-war
slump, that has fundamentally affected the cotton trade, was not
yet in sight.

The demand for water consists mainly of two factors, domestic
co iption and trade requi . Together these had increased
the demand, since the beginning of the twentieth century, at the
rate of over a million gallons a day every ten years, but a different
state of affairs set in after 1928, which was a peak year. In that
year the aveiage daily consumption was 57,353,000 gallons® and
by 1932 it had fall i d of still i ing; 54,719,000,

The following table shows the ption since 1929 calculated
by the year, not by the day.

ANNUAL CONSUMPTION.
(Million Gallons)

Domestic Trade, etc. Bulk Total
1929-30 .. .. .. 10,260 6,518 2,904 19,682
193031 .. .. .. 10,592 6333 2,920 19,845
193132 .. .. .. 10753 6,45 2,829 20,027
193233 .. .. .. 10471 6,633 2,903 20,007
1935734 .. .. .. 10484 6,769 3,975 20,328
1934735 .- .. .. 9183 6,168 2,903 18,254
1935736 .. .. .. 10,542 7054 3,046 20,642
193637 .. N G 7,419 3,113 21,253

This shows that the trade demand is on an upward trend, but
the slight increase in the domestic demand is difficult to understand
as 13,718 new houses, all fitted with baths, have been built in the
last eight years.

The Waterworks Committee seems to find difficulty in making

1 About 15 per cent of the consumption relates to bulk supplies.
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any satisfactory basis of calculation as to future needs and does not
like to commut itself more than three years ahead. It naturally wants
to be well on the safe side. That the future population, not only of
Manchester, but of the area served by Manchester, will fall with a
fall in the whole population of the British Isles is probably a safe
assumption—the only question is whether it will fall at a faster or
at a slower rate.

Meanwhile the work at Haweswater, which did not begin until
1929, was held up during the financial depression of 1931, except
for the making of the tunnels. In 1934 the Waterworks Committee
decided to carry out the next step, namely, the construction of the
dam to 1aise the level of the lake. It based this decision on the fact
that the demand for water had increased since 1931, but 1t did not
propose at this stage to raise the dam to the full height originally
suggested, which would be necessary if the full capacity was to be
secured. Later in the year, however, while this work was proceed-
ing there was a drought, and some of the water that flowed from
the taps of Manchester consumers contained peaty matter which,
although perfectly harmless, caused unpleasant letters and com-
plaints to the Department. No suggestion to filter the water was
made, and the Waterworks Committee had no difficulty in per-
suading the Council to continue with the full scheme, the work on
which 1s now proceeding.

The area served wholly by the Manchester Waterworks is about
128} square miles, the estimated population supplied in detail being
1} millions.* Twenty million gallons a day come from Longdendale,
40 million from Thirlmere, and when Haweswater is completed
about 72 million gallons will come from there—a total of 132 million
gallons a day of potential supply, and our present consumption is
under 59 million gallons.

There may be some poetic, even if no financial, justice in the
thought that whereas Manchester was definitely short of water
for 50 long, and suffered in health from the consequent bad sanitary
arrangements, she will soon have far more water than she is ever
likely to need, There is always the possibility of other areas wanting
some of the surplus supply, and that will help to meet the cost of
the new works. We cannot feel, however, that the history of the
Haweswater scheme is an example of far-sighted planning at its best.

t The ity of Manchester, x937, p. 55



CHAPTER XIII

GAS

Tue early history of the gas undertaking of Manchester is a romance
of municipal enterprise.

Mr. William Murdoch introduced gas as an illuminant to the
cotton mills of Messts. Phulips and Lee in Cross Sueet, Salford, in
1805. This experiment was a great success as the annual cost was
only 600, whereas lighting with oil had cost £z,000. Two yeas
later the Police and Improvement Commissioners, to whom was
entrusted the duty of lighting the streets of Manchester, bought
a small plant and fixed a smgle gas lamp over the door of their
police office.! A great sensation was created in the town, and night
after night crowds of people gathered outside the offices to gaze
atit, Soon the whole of therr premises were lit in this way, and they
also extended it to the street lamps in some of the busiest parts of
the town.

Meanwhile, the big mill-owners were installing their own plants,
and as the advantage of gas over oil lamps and candles was realized,
the public, in 1817, demanded that the Police Commissioners
should extend their works and supply private people.

The Commissioners evidently assumed that as the Act of 17922
and the earlier one of 1765 had given them power to light the
streets so it also gave them the power to manufacture the light.
Nobody, at that date, was considering the pros and cons of munici-
pal as opposed to private enterprise. In 1812 the London Gas
Light and Coke Company had been founded, but London was far
from Manchester, and no company had appeared in that city to
comply with the public demand.

In 1817, therefore, after a public meeting at which a resolution
had been unammously passed authorzing the increase of the Police
Rate from 1s. 3d. to 1s. 6d., gas-works wete set up on a plot of
land, now known as the site of the Albert Street Police Station.®

* In Police Street, at the bottom of King Stieet. * See above, p. 52.
o Gas Street, leading, off Albert Steces, still commemorates these wotks.
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The cost of laying mains and the gradual substitution of gas lamps
for oil lamps was greater than could be borne by the increased rate
which, by law, was limited to 1s. 6d. The Commissioners, therefore,
supplied shops and other consumets at a price of 14s. per 1,000
cubic feet, which brought in a substantial profit, £20,000 in seven
years., The debt of the gas-works was thus reduced by half* Ir is
not quite clear what actually happened to this profit. According to
one authority, it was set against the origmal cost of the works, but
according to Alderman John Shuttleworth,? £15,000 to £17,000
was paid towards the ercction of the Town Hall in King Street.

Meanwhile, the original technical difficulties which had hampered
the early use of gas had been overcome and a wide extension of
gas lighting took place throughout the country. Private joint stock
companies were formed at Leeds, Liverpool, Brighton, Edinburgh,
eic., and so rapidly had private enterprise captured this field that
‘when, in 1819, the inhabitants of Deiby met to consider a gas
supply, it was assumed that the only way of getung it would be
to form a jomt stock company.

In 1823 private prise woke up in M: under the
magpificent name of the “Manchester Imperial Joint Stock Oil and
Gas Company.” Its promoters intended to apply to Parliament for
an Act which should authorize them to “light with oil and other
gas the town and parish of Manchester.” At the same time, and
probably not unconnected with this move, the Commissioners were
threatened with litigation, on the grounds that they had no statu-
tory authority to use the funds of the Police Rate for the manufac-
tre of gas. Criticism was also directed to the high price at which
they sold the gas. They decided, therefore, to apply to Pailiament
for powers which they had exercised unchallenged for seven yeas
and at the same time to oppose the Joint Stock Company’s Bill.
Public opinion was on their side, for although there was no discus-
sion of the ad ges or disad of icipal as opposed
to private enterprise, there was a feeling that Manchester was well
served and that “strangers”~—for the promoters were mostly not
Manchester men—wanted to come in and take the profits.

Parliament, however, would have wanted 1easons not feelings,

2 To £20,788 in June 1824, Municipal Code, 1896, vol. iii, pp. 357-400.
2 “Some Account of the Manchester Gas Works,” Statistical Section of the
British Association, 1861.
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and the company was promising a cheaper supply. But, like so
many other causes in these days, it was wrecked because the
promoters were not too particular about their methods. When it
was proved that many of the signatures attached to the petition of
the gas company were forged or fictitious, the committee of the
House of Commons thiew out the Joint Stock Bill, and speedily
passed that of the Police Commissioners.:

This Act laid the foundation of municipal trading, not only in
Manchester but in the whole country, for it was the fist time
that Parliament had sanctioned tlic use of rates for trading purposes.?
Under it, Manchester also got the power to supply the out-town-
ships. Profits from the undertaking were to be applied in relief of
the Police Rate of the township of Manchester.

Thirty of the Commissioners wete elected as Gas Directors. At
this time the method of clection of Commissioners that we have
described on page 53 had not come 1nto force, and any man who
was rated at £;30 a year was entitled to act as Police Commissioner
if he wished. This opportunity was not lost by the frustrated
supporters of the Joint Stock Company and other critics of the
Commissionets, and meetings of over nine hundred people, in
which no semblance of order could be kept, were leld in the next
few years, when angty discussions on the price of gas and the
conduct of the undertaking made efficient business management
impossible.

A controversy continued for some years between the shop-
keepets, who were the chief consumers of gas and who naturally
wanted it as cheaply as possible, and the business men, mostly
mull-owners, who made therr own gas and who were glad that
profits from the gas undertaking should go towards improvements
and relief of rates. At that time gas was not used in warehouses,
offices and dwelling-houses. “The small trader, whose shop,
situated in some dark, narrow street, required much artificial light,
complained that the enormous warehouses of the Bridgewater
Trust, and the great factories of the Birleys, the M’Connels, the
Munays, and the Houldsworths, paid nothing towards the supply

1 5 Geo. IV, c. 133.

# In 1822, Choulton in s first Act sotting up Police Commissionars obtained the
power to manufacture gas and appropriate half the profits to improvements, but it
was never exarcised.
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of the town’s lamps with gas, while the whole of that cost was
defrayed out of the profits derived from excessively high prices
paid,” the gas at that time being 14s. per 1,000 cubic feet. The
question became a political one; the taxed shopkeeper who wanted
a reduction of the burden was the Radical, and the untaxed ware-
houseman, who thought the gas consumers paid only a 1easonable
price for their light and who opposed fiercely any reduction in the
chaige, was the Conservative.

The fact that there was still no statutory authority for using the
profits for imp: put the Commissi in a difficulty,
and in 1828, after more stormy meetings, during which several of
the Commissionets engaged in personal combats, an Act® was
secured which not only gave statutory authority for defraying the
cost of improvements out of the gas profits, but altered the
constitution of the Commisstoners.®

In future the Gas Directors were to be elected by the body of
Commissioners, themselves elected by the public. Although this
arrangement made the conduct of the gas undertaking much easier,
the controversy whether the gas consumer should pay more than
cost price in order to save the pockets of the ratepayers as a whole
continued. It was not finally settled untd 1921. In 1828, unlike
to-day, gas consumers were only a small peicentage of the rate-
payers. The shopkeepers and publicans, who objected also to
compulsory purchase of property for improvements, demanded a
reduction in the price of gas. It was alleged that the Improvement
Committee “sat in a comfortable room at the Town Hall, deter-
mining what part of a man’s property they would take and then
one of them said, ‘Oh, how shall we get the money for these
improvements” Another would say, “We are eighteen of us also
on the Gas Commuttee; we are sure to have a majority’ and they
had just to step into another room and then decide how much the
consumers should pay for their gas in order to raise the money
for carrying these cursed improvements into effect.”®

Meanwhile, the demand for gas was fast increasing. The Rochdale
Road works were built in 1824, a thitd works, on the place where
Oxford Road Station now stands, a few years later, and a fourth

+ English Local Government. Statutory Authorities, by S. and B. Webb, p. 266.
* 5 Geo, IV, c. 117. 2 See above, p. 52.
4 English Local Government. Statutory duthorities, by S. and B. Webb, p. 272.
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in Every Street in 183r. The price of gas was reduced from 14s.
to 125. in 1828, and again reduced to ros, Gd. in 1831, Arrangements
were also made to supply Chotlton-on-Medlock,! Hulme? and
Ardwick?® with gas, but owing to a dispute about the price, Chorlton-
on-Medlock contiacted with the only private company that ever
existed in Manchester? for four yeas. At the end of this period,
Mr. Fernley, the owner, was unable any longer to compete against
the mumcipal supply and he sold out to the Commissioners. From
1837 Chorlton teceived its gas from Manchester, In the same year
the Commissioners also arranged 1o supply the township of
Newton Heath.

To the duliculties of this early tuading were added the increasing
doubts of some of the Conservative Commissioners that perhaps,
after all, gas was a field for puvate enterprise. Two leading Con-
servatives, Mr. Tlugh Iornby Birley® and Mr. Braidley,® proposed
that the gas-works should be sold. Fortunately, an amendment
moved by William Neild, one of the founders of the Town Council,
and seconded by Joseph Adshead, one of the first councillos,
was cartied. This expressed approval of the past management and
declared the desivability of maintaining the works, both because it
was the best way of ensuring a good supply at a reasonable puice,
and because it created a fund for public improvements so especially
necessary in a town like Manchester.

Mr. Thomus Wroe was appointed chief official, both of the gas-
works and of the Commissioners. He kept these posts for ten years
and retired when, after the fight for the charter had ended in victory,
the gas-works as well as the other dutics of the Police Commis-
sionets were handed over to the Council.” Owing to his excellent
management the price of pas was reduced. During the ten years it
dropped from 1os. 6d. to ss. 9d., which was lower than the price
charped by private companies in Liverpool, and the profits increased
from 10,200 to £31,700 a year. Many of the mill-owneis, who
had formerly made their own gas, and the new ones who were
coming, to Manchester now purchased from the town. Smce 1828,
£370,000 from profits had been used for paying for improvements.

+ 12, ° 11 1831

4 The Piovincial Pottable Gas Co. of London had bought land in Hulme mn 182
and erected gas-works. They sold gas tn containers, so did not need mains. The works

were not very suceessfil, and were sold to a M. Fernley in 1831.
© See above, p. 32. ® Sec above, pp. 29, 30. 7 In 1843,
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The Commissioners, appointed by the Government to inquire
into the state of large towns,! examined Mr. Wroe on the relative
advantages of municipal and joint stock management. He admitted
none in favour of the latter, and added that if the interior pipes and
fittings could also be done under one contract, it would be 10 per
cent cheaper, and the wotk would be better, “but what is to become
of the seventy master tradesmen employed now in supplying gas
fittings?”? Later the Gas Committee took poweis to extend
municipal trading in this way.

At that time there was no other large town and only a few small
ones who had a municipal supply of gas. The enterprise of these
early Commissioners had been well justified. If, however, it had
not been for William Neild n 1834, Manchester might have lost
all that they had built up. Since then there has never been a sugpes-
tion that the gas-works should be sold to private enerpiise, and
the most die-hard Conservative 1s usually surptised when he hears
the gas undertaking spoken of as “municipal Socialism.” An inquiry
carried out by American investigators in 1907 into the operation
of public utilities in Ewmope, says, “It is worthy of special notice
that the one undertaking that comes in for practically no aiticism
at the hands of the enginees is Mancheszep—the only one which
has been public from the start.

The success with which money could be raised for improvements
by making a profit on the sale of gas which, in those towns in
which a private company operated, went to the shareholder, led
the Cotporation to turn to this undertaking when in financial
trouble.

In 1850 it was 1ealized that the new Longdendale water scheme,
for which the Council had obtained Parliamentary sanction, was
going to be a big strain on the finances of the Corporation.
Accordingly it was decided to seek power to divert for the next
ten years half the gas profi h was the p
of its finances—from the carrying out of i xmprovemems within the
town towards the expenses of the waterworks scheme and in
reduction of the Water Rate. Power to do so was obtained in the
General Improvement Act of 1851, and from 1851 to 1861 the
profits paid to the Waterworks Department amounted to £166,264.

* Appendin t0 sk Repost 184, p. 174
» Netinal i Fdration Report, 3907, Part 1, vol. 1, p. 185.
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But the consumer had at last to be reckoned with, and a revolt
was organized in 1859 when a Gas Consumers’ Association was
formed. This demanded a reduction in the price of gas instead of
profits being divided between improvements and the Water Rate,
and that consumers should be allowed to hire gas meters instead
of having to puichase them. The agitation was directed against
Alderman Shuttleworth, the Chairman of the Gas Committee, who
had been a member of it for nineteen years. A resolution reducing
the price of gas to 4s. 6d. was canticd by the Council in spite of
his opposition, and the following November he was not re-clected
as alderman. He was also turned off the Gas Commuttee. The
proposal to continue giving gas profits in aid of the waterworks
was defeated, and a system of hiring meters was adopted. The only
demand which was not conceded was that profits should no Jonger
go to improvements.

The Gas Committee, in pursuance of its policy of extending
the area of supply, bought out small works whenever possible, and
in 1869 took over the Droylesden works so that 1t could supply
gas to that hip. Co ption was still i ing and new
works were now needed. After six years of acrimonious and often
frivolous discussion, and much referring back of the Committee’s
proposals, the Bradford Road works were erected.t

Each extension of the city brought an increase of consumption
and this meant extension of the works. There now occurred also a
period of rapid technical improvements, so that more efficient
production from coal and a development of by-products to include
anilme dyes, liquid ammonia and chloride sulphate, as well as coke,
increased the profits from by-products.

The invention of the incandescent mantle, which gave eight
times the light of the open flame, and the Bunsen burner made
possible the use of gas for cooking and heating. In 1884 the Gas
Committee began to hiie cooking stoves and gas fires to con-
sumers, but it was not until 1903, when these were supplied and
fixed free of charge,that the demand increased 1apidly. The follow-

* Some of the opposition to the new wotks was the proposed site near Philips
park, one of the lungs of the city. Batton was considered—later to be the site of the
Electricity Wotks, but the fact that the Committee had actually bought the Bradford
Roud site, although it infuriated the opposition, won the day.

* At that time Manchester and St. Helens were the only municipalities where this
was done,
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ing figures show the growth in the number of cooking and heating
appliances between 1887 and 1937:

1887 .o . . 1,609
1897 e e 4094
1907 .. e .. 36214
1917 se .o .. 150800
1927 .. - oo 214,041
1937 ce e e 239347

The “shilling in the slot” meter was introduced in 1890, and
helped considerably in the expansion of the use of gas.

By 1917 most of the existing houses had been supplied. In the
new houses built after the war the Gas Committee had to meet
severe competition from the Electricity Commuttee. The fact that
the number of gas cookeis and heaters continues to increase,
although at a slower rate, shows that there is still a separate field
for both methods.

The advantage of gas over coal as the most potent method of
smoke abatement was first realized in 1891, when the Council
passed a special resolution asking for a further reduction of the
price of gas for power, heating and cooking “having regard to the
urgent need in the interests of the community of 1educing the
present pollution of the air.” This was impossible at that date when

p was rapidly i ing and i ions of
the works had to be made, but in 1895 the price of gas was reduced
to 2s. 3d. and the gas meters were installed free of charge

There is no doubt that the extended use of gas for cooking has
been largely responsible for the improvement that has taken place
in the purity of the atmosphere. Since domestic grates cause more
than half the smoke in our city, gas cookers, which obviate the
use of the range in the summer except for heating water, have
made a great difference. If the cost of heating water and warming
the room by gas were as cheap as by coal, the problem of smoke
abatement would be solved—as it is, we must look to improved
forms of coke, burnt in specially constructed grates and lit by gas,
for a solution within the reach of the smallest incomes.

In 1923 the Gas Committee decided to close the Gaythorn and
Rochdale Road works, and manufacture at Bradford Road and at
a new works to be built at Parti In view of the i
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of the ten yeats after the first part of the scheme was built, experts
were doubtful whether the cost of erecting so large a plant outside
the city had been justified, and whether the increased demand—
which, owing to competition from electricity, and to the fact that
Stretford decided to manufacture its own gas, had not been as
great as had been anticipated—could not have been met more
cheaply by extensions at the Gaythorn works. The original plans
were modified after Stretford’s decision, and some of the gas is
still manufactured at Rochdale Road. At the present time, 49 per
cent of the supply comes from the Bradford Road works, 31 per
cent from Partington, 17 per cent from Rochdale Road, and
3 per cent from the Dioylesden works,

The area of supply is 53} squaie miles, and there are 220,251
consumers, which means that 94+2 per cent of all the buildings in
Manchester consume gas in one form or another. The two-part
tariff introduced in 1935 by which the price of gas is 1educed after
a minimum fixed charge, 1s helping to incease the consumption
for domestic purposes.



CHAPTER XIV

ELECTRICITY

Evrrcrricrty is a modern discovery compared with gas, for it was
only when, in 1880, the invention of the carbon-filament lamp
made electricity practicable for lighting that its history began.
Neither can Manchester claim to have been a pioneer in municipal
enterprise in this field, but her forty yeats’ experience of municipal
enterprise in gas and water made her anxious that the new arrival
should be managed in the same way. Belief in the principle of
municipal trading was probably reinforced by a fear that elec-
tricity might in the future prove a dangerous rival to gas and that,
therefore, it would be as well to have it under the same control.
Private companics were applying to Pailiament for powers to supply
Manchester. The Corporation opposed these in her own Bill of
1881, and asked for power to produce and supply electricity in
the area of her gas supply. However, the Board of Trade had just
decided that public legislation was necessary on this subject, and
0 the clause was withdrawn.

Public opinion, as represented in Parliament, had become
gradually more favourable to municipal enterprise so far as public
utilities were concerned, and the first Electiic Lighting Act gave
the preference to municipal authorities. If, however, they failed to
take the powes, then a private company might step in. Immediately
the Act was passed, Manchester applied for a Provisional Order
under it. The procedure had been settled by an order given to
the Bradford Corporation, under which a small area was allowed,
and within this area the Corporation had to undertake to supply
any person who asked for it within three years. If it failed, the
order could be revoked and one granted to a company instead.

These conditions were intended to prevent municipalities from
getting an order, excluding private companies, and then taking no
steps to impl it, so that ld-be electricit
suffered. This was what the Manchester Gas Committee had prob-

* 1882,
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ably intended to do, otherwise it was difficult to understand why
it objected to the condition of compulsory supply. The reason it
gave was that having no works of 1ts own, m order to supply
within the thiee years, it would have to contract with a private
company, and this it was determined not to do. As the Act provided
that if a private company got an order, it had to give the local
authority the option of laying the mains along the streets,
Manchester felt that she could afford to “wait and see.”

The industry developed very slowly during the next seven years.
Private companies felt that the 1881 Act had been unfair to them.
Not only had the original option of doing the work been given
to local authouities, but if they did not take it, and a private com-
pany got the order, the local authority at the end of twenty-one
years could purchase the undertaking compulsorily at what the
companies did not consider a fair valuation. Another reason for
the slow development of the industiy at this pettod was the high
cost of production compared to that of gas.

One of the Manchester aldermen, Alderman Thompson, was
invited during this period to become director of a company which
proposed to light the city with electricity. He declined the offer
for the reason that Manchester was supplying gas at so low a rate,
25, Gd. per 1,000 cubic feet, that he felt that a private company
would have very little chance of success. Many of the public
buildings throughout the country had adopted the electric lighting
system, but very few had maintained it. The Manchester Royal
Exchange was lit by electricity for a time, but had also given it up.
Up to 1888, although the Board of Trade had granted fifty-nine
Provisional Orders and five licences to companies, and fifteen
Provistonal Orders and two licences to local authorities, none of
these powers were then being exercised.

The 1888 Act made certain ions to private comyg
and six companies gave notice to Manch that they intended to
apply for powers to operate in the aea. At the instance of Alderman
Sir John Harwood, deputy-chairman of the Gas Committee, the
Corporation again opposed all of them and made its own applica-
tion instead. In addition to a belief that electricity was as suitable
as gas for municipal management, it was clear that electric lighting
would go aliead under the new Act and that if the Corporation
did not apply for powers, they would be granted to private com-




368 A CENTURY OF CITY GOVERNMENT

panies. A canvass by one of the private companies showed a
demand for this form of lighting that surprised the Council. The
first extension of the city (1885) had taken place, and those who
looked ahead realized that it was only a question of time before
more of the outlying distiicts were absorbed. If a private company
supplied these areas, Manchester would eventually have to buy
it out at a much greater piice than it would cost to supply them
herself? The 1888 Act still gave preference to municipalities, and
the Corporation received its order in September 18g0.

The atea to be supplied seems small to us now. It was about
two-thirds of a square mile in the centre of the city.

An Electiic Lighting sub-Commuttee of the Gas Committee was
appointed, and Dr. John Hopkinson made Consulting Engineer.
The Corporation still had to decide whether to carry out the work
itself or whether it would contract with a private company to do
it. It decided in favour of complete municipalization, borrowing
powers were granted, and the first generating station 1 Dickinson
Street was opened in 1893,

Progress was rapid, so rapid that the oiiginal plant had to be
twice increased in the first year. Eight thousand 16 candle-power
lamps were increased to 70,000 within three years. The first year
expenses were covered; the second year a handsome piofit was
made; the third year it was possible to make a contribution of
A£11,000 to the rates, and also to reduce the cost to consumers
25 per cent. The following year the cost was reduced another
25 per cent, while still more was given to the rates,

Becanse of the rapid development it was decided in 1897, on
the dation of the Gas Ci i that the tme had
arrived when the Electric Lighting sub-Committee should become
a separate Standing Commitree of the Council. But even at that
time no one setiously thought that electiicity would hecome a
competitor of the gas undertaking. Neither in London nor in
Bradford had the introduction of electric lighting decreased the
consumption of gas.

As a result of a visit to Continental plant, the Electricity Com-
mittee arranged for the purchase of about eight acres of land in
Stuart Street, Bradford, for a site for the new generating station,*
to be used for light and for traction. The Corporation had taken

1 Council Minutes, March 18, 1903. 2 December 22, 1898.
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over the tramways in 1897 and was preparing to turn over from
horse to electric traction.

The Corporation adopted the policy of supplying the out
districts on the same terms as the city, and the first agreement was
entered into with Levenshulme Urban District Council for the
transfer of their Electric Lighting Order to the Corporation for a
period of twenty-one years.* This principle was followed in subse~
quent agreements with the other outside authorities, so that the
area of supply was thus increased in less than twenty years from
two-thirds of a square mile to forty-five square miles.

Electrification of the trams was begun in 1897, and the following
year saw Market Stieet, Piccadilly, London Road, Deansgate and
other main roads lit by electric lamps. All this extra demand
necessitated extensions of the existing works as well as the erection
of the new one at Stuart Street.

In 1903, M1. (now Sir) S. L. Pearce was made Chief Engjineer and
Manager, and Manchester became the largest municipal undertaking
in the country. He was responsible for the erection of the generating
station at Barton, near the Ship Canal, which, held up by the war,
was opened in 1923. For some years the Barton station enjoyed
the distinction of maintaining a higher thermal efficiency than that
of any other stcam-driven station in the country. Extensions were
made to it in 1928 and again in 1931. Alterations were also made
at the Stuart Street station, and Dickinson Street was converted
into a distribution station.

During the war the fact that there was complete lack of
co-ordination in the electiicity supply industry was brought to the
attention of the Government. Electricity had made such headway
in supplanting coal for power purposes, both in industry and in
transport, that it held a position in the national economy different
from that of gas.

In 1926 the Central Electricity Board was set up by Parliament,
appointed by the Minister of Transport, and the construction of
the “Grid” was begun.

The Board selected about a hundred and thirty stations, those
which it considered the most efficient, in which all the electrical
power required is generated at a considerable saving of cost. Nearly
4,000 miles of high voltage transmission lines carried over the

* 1896,
AL
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country, up hill and down dale, by the now familiar *‘pylons,”
connect up these stations with the points of distribution. The
Central Electricity Board does not own these stations, but has a
certain amount of control over them. Manchester’s stations at
Barton and Stuart Street were “selected” by the Board, and
connected with the “Giid” in 1934.

The electrici dertaking in M: is now the second
largest municipal plant in the countty, Birmingham being the
largest. The Manchester area of supply covers 57 square miles with
153,657 consumers.* It includes the city and some outlying areas,
and bulk supplies are sold to Stretford, Middleton, Sale, Cheadle
and the Lancashire Electric Power Company.

COMPETITION BETWEEN GAS AND ELECTRICITY

From the beginning of the present century electricity has steadily
become an increasingly keen competitor of gas, invading one field
after another.

As regards industry, the main advance of electricity has been
for power, in which field gas now plays a very minor role, though
gas still holds its own for other important industrial purposes.

As regards street lighting, the Electricity and Gas Committees
have for years waged a very keen war in Manchester. Having
been established first and having been strengthened by new technical
inventions, the bulk of street lighting 1s still done by gas, but
electricity is gaining fast, and all the new street lighting in
Manchester is now done by electricity.

In the domestic field lighting is, of course, done by electricity,
but a few years ago gas looked like having a monopoly of cooking.
Here again electricity is encroaching, and both for cooking and
domestic heating there is keen competition between the two.

Both of the Committees spend money in advertising and in
showrooms in the city. Very fine showrooms have been fitted
up in the extension of the Town Hall. Energetic branches of the
‘Women’s Electrical Association and the Women’s Gas Council
exist in the city. They carry out excellent propaganda work by

1 In 1927 there were only 42,888 consumers.
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means of cooking demonstrations, travelling showrooms, lectures
and visits to works and institutions using electricity or gas.

The following table shows the proportions in which gas and
electricity are now being used for the different purposes in
Manchester:

Gas Elecericity
Tndustrial and commercial .. 27-2 per cent 619 per cent
Domestic . . 6207 4, 15°2 5, 5
Trams .. C e — 84 5 »
Stieet lighting, .. . 93 o 19 4
Bulk supplics .. .. .. 06, o 12'5 5 o

The curves on page 372 show the total production of electricity
and gas in Manchester during the last century. Perhaps the most
striking thing is that gas is sull so far ahead of electricity. The
graphs show the total amounts of gas and electricity produced in
mullions of cubic feet and in millions of kilowatt hours 1espectively.
They also show the total quantity produced in each case measured
in therms, and it will be seen that while the electricity produced
1n the last year was equivalent to under sixteen million therms, the
gas produced was equivalent to nearly double the amount. On the
other hand, gas attained its maximum in 1927 and is now 10 per
cent less; during the same period the output of electiicity has
increased by over 50 per cent. It is an imteresting speculation, to
which we offer no answer, at what date the two curves will cross
one another,
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L] 7]
Eco 3 5
AMOUN1S OF GAS AND ELECTRICITY PRODUCED IN MANCHESTER EACH YEAR
AND EQUIVALENT HEAT VALUES.

This diagram can be criticized on the grounds that electricity is mainly

produced for power and not for heat, but so long as this is borne in

mind, we believe that it best shows the relative positions of the amount
of the production of gas and electricity.



CHAPTER XV

TRANSPORT

A cENTURY ago the stage-coach was being superseded by the rail-
way. Before then, the stage-coach had been the accepted means of
mail and passenger transport between one town and another. In
1754 the “flying coach”—otherwise a stage-coach which travelled
at an accel d its apy in Manck and
it was announced that “inciedible as it may appear, this coach will
actually arrive in London four days and a half after leaving Man-~
chester.”” Manchester got a three-day stage-coach to London in
1770, and seven years later communication by stage-coach was
opened between Manchester and Liverpool.

As regards transport within the town of Manchester itself, this
was of much later development than transport between one town
and another, in view of the fact that the extremities of the town
were in easy walking distance of each other. Hackney carriages
were established in Manchester in 1810, and in 1815 as many as
twenty coaches, but not more, were allowed to ply for hire in
Manchester and Salford, or within four miles of the town. They
stood in St. Ann’s Square and at the top of Market Street. About
this time the horse omnibus emerged and the first service, in 1824,
‘was run by a certain John Greenwood. This was started to accom-
modate merchants and others. The buses at first used to run mainly
to places like Pendleton, Ardwick and Cheetham Hill, where the
middle class of those days resided, and after some thirty years had
elapsed, an entirely new style of vehicle, much longer than those
in use and double decked, drawn by three horses abreast, was intro~
duced by a Mr. McEwen. It had accommodation for seventeen
passengers inside and twenty-five outside, and the fare was reduced
from 6d. to 3d. In a short time McEwen, finding his capital in-
sufficient, disposed of his property to Mr. Alderman Mackie,! who
made considerable additions to the plant, started several new routes
and greatly stimulated the traffic. By the year 1865, omnibuses were

1 Member of the Council and Mayor from 1857 to 1860.
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being run on a fairly extensive scale in Manchester by different
people, and in that year a step was taken towards unifying the
system by the formation of the Manchester Carriage Company.
Alderman Mackie was the first chairman of the new company and
Mr. John Greenwood, son of the originator of the first omnibuses
in Manck ice-chai and ing director. The opera-
tions of the company were gradually extended until a seivice of
three-horse buses ran along most of the main 10ads. The minimum
fares charged were 3d. mside the omnibus and 2d. outside.

Until 1858, tramways were unknown in Great Britain, Con~
vinced of their commercial value, an entetptising American, Mr.
George Francs Train, came to this country and detemined to
introduce tramways, or street railways, as they were called in
America, here. Mr. Train first tried at Liverpool, but that city
would not listen to his propositon; however, the Commuissioners
of Birkenhead gave him permission to lay a tramway four miles
long. The work completed, he next attacked London. Heie he met
with decided opposition from the omnibus interests, but he finally
obtained permussion to lay one or two miles of tram lines in 1861.*
He seems to have shown his models to some people in Manchester
who invited him to a trial in this city, but nothing came of the
invitation.

In 1862, Mr. John Haworth, a Manchester town councillor, got
permission to put down a tramway from Salford to Pendleton,
which was also used by the omnik because of the h
of the track compared with the ordinary paving of:those days.

Meanwhile, in the late ’sixties, English engineers seem to have
awakened to the advantage of tramways and a considerable number
of designs for laying them were patented. Glasgow was one of the
first local authorities to obtain Parlj 'y power to lay tram-
lines and lease them to a tramway company.?

In 1870 a general Tramways Act enabled local authorities to
obtain a Provisional Order to construct and own tramways, and
the consent of the local authority was required before an order
was granted to a company. At the end of twenty-one years the
local authority had the right of compulsory purchase of the under-
taking and thereafter, at the termination of recurring periods of

* My Life in Many States and in Forsign Lands, by George F. Train.
2 Glasgow Tramways Act, 1870, The first lines were opened in 1872.
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seven years, on the basis of its structural value, without any allow-
ance for goodwill. This Act did not, however, authorize any local
authority to operate trams itself and between 1870 and 1882
all cC d by local authorities were invariably
leased to companies at an annual rental. The Standing Orders of
both Houses were amended so as to forbid the introduction of
clauses 1n local Bills empowering a local authority to work a
tramway.

As soon as the Act was passed, various companies gave notice
of their intention to apply for powers to lay tramways in Man-
chester. The city authorities decided to oppose these Bills on the
ground that powers to lay down, maintain, regulate and control
tramways ought to be alone conferred upon the local authority.
In 1875 the Council itself obtained power to construct tramways
in certain streetst Thus, as in the case of gas and water and elec-
tricity, Manchester decided itself to control the development of the
new public services.

The first part of the system was ready for use by horse cars in
1877, and an agreement was made with Messrs. Turton and Busby
who arranged to pay a 1ental of 10 per cent per annum of the cost
of construction. The lessees were required to run workmen’s cars
morning and evening at fares of not more than 4d. per mile; to
limit fares for adults to 3d. for a seat inside the car and 2d. outside,
and to affix no advertisements. Out of the rental of 10 per cent,
the city had to pay all the fixed charges and to maintain the track
and paving in proper condition. From time to time other lines
were constructed and leased to the Manchester Caniage and Tram-
way Company,? and the agreements which were made terminated
at various dates between 1898 and rgor.

Manchester’s tramways proved a financial success. In the first
seventeen years the rent paid by the companies not only wiped
out the capital account, but enabled £97,600 to be paid in aid of
the city rates, an annual average of about £35,740. The lessees, too,
did well. For many years they were able 10 pay a dividend of from
8 to 10 per cent, as well as to huild up a reserve fund.

During these early years the whole system was in an experimental
stage. Bargains as regards leases were made in the dark. Few of the

3 Manchestes Corporation Tiamways Orders Confirmation Act, 1875,
® This company had taken over the undertaking owned by Turton and Busby.
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lessees had more than a crude idea of the cost of maintenance.
Some insisted on their maximum legal rates and, making poor
progress, allowed their plant and lines to fall into disrepair; in
other large towns, tramway companies did exceedingly well. But
prosperous or not prosperous, when these companies were asked
to reduce fares, to give greater convenience as regards the service,
reduce the hours of labour, or improve the means of traction, the
response, with few exceptions, was that with such a limited tenure
they could not take any risks or make any saciifices. Their policy
was to make what profit they could against the possibility of
compulsory sale at the end of the lease.

It was perhaps the success of the municipalization of Glasgow’s
tramways that was largely responsible for the growth of this
movement in other towns. In her private Act of 1870 she had
obtained the option of working the tramways herself as well as the
power to constiuct and lease them.* They were leased to a private
company for twenty-three years. During a considerable part of its
term, the company had paid annual dividends of 10 to 14 per cent,
and for another considerable series of years from 20 to 24 per
cent. When the City Council asked the company to reduce fares,
raise wages, shorten hours, it said it could not afford it. Glasgow
tried in every possible way to reach a fair and just arrangement,
but without success, and only went into municipal operation in
1894 when forced to the conclusion that no plan which would
safeguard the interests of its citizens would be acceptable to the
company. The city introduced electric traction, reduced fares,
increased wages, and reduced hours. The service was extended and
improved, and the city made, not a deficit, but a considerable profit
for the ratepayers.

The Standing Order forbidding the insertion of clauses in
local Bills authorizing the authority to work the tramways, was
not revoked until 1896, when, the success of the tramways at
Glasgow being assured, other towns were demanding the same
privileges. In the session of 1897, Liverpool, Manchester, Edinburgh
and seven other towns secured the same powers, including, as in
the former cases, power to introduce mechanical traction.

The first definite move in Manchester towards municipal opera-
tion was made on Febiuary 20, 1895, when a special committee was

. 1 The Glasgow Street Tramways Act, 1870, sec, 86,
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appointed to consider and report upon its desirability. Some
‘members of the Council thought the step premature, others thought
it inopportune, and that if the tramways were worked by the
Corporation, the probability would be that they would not be
worked so economucally and the rates would suffer. The Com-
mittee, however, recommended the Council to obtain powers to
operate the tramways, not so much with the idea of actually
exercising them, as of putting the city in a better position to bargain
with the company when the leases expired. The first leases expired
in 1898, but the principal leases did not expire until April 27, 1901.
The Council approved the report, but at the town’s meeting, held
on November 13th! to securc permission to promote a Bill, the

lation ling the tramways was rejected. The applica-
tion was regarded as being in “indecent haste,” and it was held
that the Corporation was not as competent as the company to buy
horses and materials. The Committee reconsidered the matter, but
were still of the opinion that power to operate should be obtained,
and at a town’s meeting on March 4, 1897, the first to be held at
night, the recommendation regarding the tramways was approved.
The general feeling, however, was still against municipal operation,
if satisfactory terms could be secured from the company. A Bill
giving the city the necessay authority to operate the tramways,
if it wished, was passed in 1897.

Negotiations wete entered into with the company with the
object of getting a better service, through the introduction of
mechanical traction. Apart from this question, the service rendered
by the company had been on the whole satisfactory. The fares had
been high, but public agitation had 1esulted in a considerable
reduction. Many of the men worked as many as seventy hours per
week, but no movement for municipal control had grown out
of that fact. The principal arguments advanced in favour of
municipalization were:

(1) The need for an improvement of the services, especially as
1egards the mode of traction.

(2) The tiansfer of the profits from the shareholders to the public,
the company having been veiy prosperous.

(3) Lower fates.

* 1895
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(4) The wisdom of having all local monopolies in the hands of the
authority, especially those which had a close connection with the
streets.

(5) Relief of congestion of population by making suburban areas
moie accessible. A municipality, unlike a company, could afford,
for social 1easons, to lay and operate a line that would not be at
first remunerative.

In opposition it was wiged:

(1) That the responsibility and extent of the undeitaking was too
great for the City Council.

(2) That the difficulties of unifying a system tunning thiough so
many local areas were insuperable.

(3) That the present service was good, fares low and the financial
profit to the city quite satisfactory.

The debate continued, and in December 1897 the Special Com-
mittee submitted another report giving information on the working
of municipal tramways in Glasgow, Leeds, Liverpool, Birmingham,
Sheffield, Huddersfield, Bristol, Brussels, Vienna and Milan. Salford
had also decided to municipalize, and some of the suriounding
Jocal authorities had expressed a willingness to lease their lines to
Manchester, if it would operate them upon reasonable terms. The
Committee recommended buying out the tramway company, and
the substitution of electric traction for hoises, The report was
adopted with only two or three dissentients.

In January 1898, Mr. John Moffatt McElroy was appointed
Secretary to the Tramways Committee, and two years later General
Manager of the Tramways Department.

The change-over from private to municipal operation was made
in Manchester later than in other big cities, probably because the
private company was on the whole well managed. Although the
Council was determined from the first to own the tramlines, it
regarded the question of operation as one not of principle but of
expediency.

In 1897 the Council got power to adopt electric traction for
its tnamways and, in 1899, to make agreements with certain out-
side local authorities for the working of their lines in connection
with the Manchester system, and by 1903, when all the leases with
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the company had run out, the whole system was worked by the
city.

For the fifty-six miles of track owned by the Corporation, the
company had paid an annual rent of £22,500. When the Corpora-
tion had paid interest and sinking fund charges out of this sum,
between £4,000 and £ 5,000 went to the relief of rates. The fares
charged by the Corporation m 1909, as compared with those
charged by the old company, showed an average reduction of
40 per cent, whereas the total amount paid in the relief of the rates
during the eight years ending in March 1909 was an average of
£47,125 a year, ten times as much as the annual average sums
previously paid in relief of rates. The hours of labour were reduced
from seventy to fifty-four a week, and wages were increased. These

ions to the ratepayers, the lling public and the em-
ployees did not undermine the financial stability of the undertaking,
but it is impossible to draw any valid compaiison between the
company’s operation of the service and the city’s, since the
introduction of electric traction made so great a difference.

Shortly after the municipal system was in full working order in
Manchester, the Tramways D ized a h
ambitious parcel-carrying scheme. Special electric freight cars were
built, a considerable number of hoises and vans were purchased,
and some one hundred and fifty collecting and distributing agencies
were established. Parcels were collected and delivered in Manchester
and over sixty-six districts outside, including all the large towns
except Bolton within an average radius of some eight miles around
Manchester. Operations began early in 1905, but in May of that
year a writ was issued on behalf of a carrier company in the city.
Judgment was given in February of the following year to the
effect that the Corporation was only allowed to carry on business
as carriers in connection with the tramway undertaking, and that
it had considerably exceeded its legal powers. A new system was
begun on October 29, 1906, which was limited to the area served
by the Corporation tramways and to small parcels such as could
be carried by ordinary trams. In spite of the limitation, this side
of the transport undertaking has greatly i d. Thirty years
ago 141,715 parcels were carried, and this year (1937) 3,000,000.

The chief transport problem of the last fifteen years in Man~
chester, as elsewhere, has been the supersession of electrically
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driven trams by motor buses. In 1914, Manchester obtained an
extension of her somewhat limited powers 1o run busest and ran
them partly in order to safeguard the tramway receipts from the
competition of outside bus companies. Later, they were used to
link up the outside tramway districts and to run express services
at higher fares. The first of these express services was the Cheadle
and Heywood route (1927), followed by the Rochdale, Altrincham,
Bolton, Hyde and other services. These proved so successful that
they were developed on a comprehensive scale.

The policy of abandoning tramways altogether in favour of
buses came gradually. There were many sides to the question, not
always appreciated by the ordinary passenger, who is natually
concerned only to get a fast and convenient service at the lowest
cost. Much capital has been sunk in the tramlines, rolling stock,
and overhead wires. If trams were abandoned, not only would this
capital have to be repaid, as well as the loans for the buses, but the
undertaking would have to relay the track as an ordinary roadway.
Even if the buses should eventually prove profitable enough to
carry this charge, there were other considerations that affect the

payers as ratepayets and not as p

The Transport Department, as 1t has been called since November
1929, pays rates on its tracks, overhead wires and buildings. In
1937 this amounted to [£41,264, the tramway section paying
£33,100 and the buses £8,164. Although buses would need the
tramway sheds as garages, there would still be a distinct loss to the
rates when the substitution was complete. The Tramways Depart-
ment not only constructed the tracks, but renewed them from time
to time when necessary. If they were abandoned, the Highway
Committee wonld have to maintain the whole roadway.? This extra
charge is estimated at /28,000 per annum. Finally, but perhaps
most important of all, the Electricity Department would lose one
of its best customers if petrol- or oil-driven buses were sub-
stituted for electrically driven trams.

Until a few years ago it was doubtful if buses would prove
cheaper as well as more convenient, because the double-deck bus,
which alone could carry the requisite number of passengers to make

* Obtained in 2900, Manchester Corporation Tramways Act.
3 The Ty rt D 1 we

ds th o

the road,
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it pay, was not allowed by the Watch Committee to run alongside
the trams in Manchester, thereby increasing the number of vehicles
in the streets. Under conditions then existing, the policy of the
Tramways Committee* was sound, but it would probably have
been better if Manchester had started gradually to convert to buses
earlier. This start was made in 1929, when Mr. Stuart Pilcher
succeeded Mr. Henry Mattinson as General Manager.

The success of the first route to be converted justified the
conversion of other routes. It was, however, only in July of this
year (1937) that the Council definitely adopted the policy of the
gradual abandonment of all its tramways. Buses had proved quicker
and cheaper, and much more popular with the public. The out-
standing debt on the tramways will not be liquidated until 1974,
although the bulk of it will have heen repaid by 1950, and the
success of the buses shows that the undertaking will be in a
financial position to carry it

To-day, December 1937, 38 per cent of the system has been
converted from trams to buses, and 54 per cent of the total revenue
is earned by the buses.? The number of passengers on buses and
trams together has increased by more than eleven millions since
1933.°

The electric tram is disappearing all over England and in the
chief countries abroad. In Paris, Berlin, Rome, New York, the
process is going on, and in London the complete elimination of
the tramway is expected in about five years. In fifty-one of the
smaller local authorities and in the case of forty-five companies,
trams have now been entirely abandoned. Liverpool and Sheffield
are the only places where an increase in miles of tramway track
has taken place in recent years.

The tram is doomed, but 1t is not yet clear what will take its
place, whether the petrol- or oil-driven bus, or the electrically
driven trolley-bus. The advantages of the latter are mainly the
continued use of electricity, made from British coal, which benefits
the consumers of electricity through lowering the price, and the
avoidance of fumes which are still inseparable from the petrol- and

1 Before the setting up of Traffic Commissioners by the Road Traffic Act, 1930,
the local authority was the licensing authority.

2 Repott of Transport Committee and Finance Committee on Tramway Abandon-

ment (No. 1,000), July 1, 1937.
2 Annual Report and Abstract of Accounts of Transport Department, 1937,
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oil-driven bus, which uses imported oil. The rates also will con
tinue to be paid on the overhead equipment as in the case of trams,
The chief disadvantage is that, although the mobility of the trolley-
bus 15 greater than that of the tram, it is not so great as that of the
motor bus, as its sphere of activity is still limited. Also one trolley-
bus cannot pass another, so that a full bus blocks the wires for
those coming behind it. It appears, too, as if the running costs per
‘mile will be higher than those of the buses. However, the experiment
is about to be made, and by the beginning of 1938 two routes will
have been converted. The final decision will rest upon the results
of this experiment

Apart from ensuring that the method of transport is the best
and cheapest possible, the Transport Committee plays an important
part in the housing policy of the Council. The cost and the time
involved in getting to and from work is a vital factor in deciding
a family to move from the congested inner quarters of the city to
one or other of the housing estates in the subuibs. After rent, it is
no exaggeration to say that the cost of transport, especially if there
are many earning members of a family, is what determines it in
its choice of estate. Many who would otherwise like to live at
‘Wythenshawe, where the return fare to the centre of the city is
8d., have to stay in Ardwick or Hulme, where 1d. single fare takes
them to work, or where they can walk there and back. The Trans-
port Committee is fully aware of this aspect of the problem, and 1s
doing its best to meet it consistently with treating fairly its other
passengers, and with keeping the undertaking from being a burden
on the rates. Three years ago, for instance, when a reduction of
fares was possible, all stages to the housing estates were reduced
by }d. For Wythenshawe, a special fare of 8d. return fiom all parts
of the estate was fixed, which is about }d. a mile. There are some
members of the Council who would like a flat rate throughout
the city, so that whether a distance of one mile or seven miles were
covered, the payment would be the same. A policy of this kind
‘would undoubtedly facilitate the of the population from
the centre to the circumference, but whether it would be fair to
those residents who would still have to live in Collyhurst, Hulme,

% "The decision to convert these two routes to tolley buses was taken by the
Council, which accepted an amendment to that effect without even asking for the
opision of the Transport Committee on the matter.
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and Ardwick, and who now benefit by the long 1d. fare, is not so
certain.

Until 1921 the Transport Committee, like the other trading
committees, contributed annually a handsome sum in relief of rates,
but this was stopped when the Council decided* that all the public
utilities should spend profits on reduction of charges.

In 1937 the Transport Department operated 17,820,733 miles on
its tramways, and 19,369,625 miles on its bus routes. It carried
over 346 million passengers, of which 56+3 per cent were carried
on the trams. The average length of the 1d. stage was 1°36 miles
on the trams and 1-41 on the buses (converted tram routes),
112 miles on local services and +86 of a mile on the express
services.

1 See above, p. 14d.



CHAPTER XVI

THE SHIP CANAL

Tae Ship Canal is different from the Corporation trading com~
mittees and the part played in it by the City Council is, we
believe, unique. The enterprise, which was intended to be a
money-making concetn, was launched in the usual way as a joint
stock company, the capital being subscribed by the publhic. When
the capital proved insufficient and the project was on the point
of failure, the City Council, realizing the benefit to Manchester
which would follow the completion of the canal, stepped in and
lent the Company the necessary moncy to continue. It risked
the ratepayers’ money in an undertaking which, unlike markets,
gas, electiicity and transport, was not a monopoly, and could not
become one, The Ship Canal had to meet the competition of the
railways, and later of road transport.

The Manchester Corporation Act of 189x was the first Act of
Parliament which gave power to a municipality to invest in an
outside undertaking, and we can well undeistand the strong opposi-
tion that was raised to the proposal. Many of the members of the
City Council had privately invested in the Company, and their
holdings wete in danger. It could easily have been, and in some
countiies would have been, represented as a municipal scandal.
But apart from the fact that many working men had also invested
their savings in the Company the public seems to have soon realized
that it was going to be of benefit to the city, and therefore worthy
of the support of the ratepayers.

The idea of a ship canal to Manchester had simmered in the
public mind there since 1825, when a proposal to construct a canal
from Manchester to the mouth of the River Dee was put forward,
In 1838 and 1840 more modest proposals were made but nothing
came of them. The idea, however, was not lost sight of, and in
1877 petitions and reports were brought before the Manchester
Chamber of Commerce by Mr. George Hicks, with the assistance
of a London engineer, Mr. Fulton, and after some discussion a
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resolution was passed that “it would be of the greatest service to
the interests of Manchester and the trade of the district to have an
improved waterway.”

The *eighties were a period of bad trade in Manchester. For the
first time since the incorporation of the city rateable value declined
and did not fully recover until 189r. People tried to find a reason
for the decay of Manchester’s trade. When times were prosperous
and profits high little attention was given 1o the details of expense,
but when the reverse was the case costs were caefully scanned and
people soon began to complain of the charges made by the Liver-
pool dock authorities and by the railway companies. Glasgow,
00, at this time had singled herself out for attention by bringing
the sea to her doots and making the town an important and busy
port, and 1t was thought that Manchester might profitably emulate
her example. Thus the idea of the Ship Canal was born, and its
success in the inital stages was undoubtedly due to a forcible
and convincing pamphlet published in May 1882 under the pseu-
donym of “Mancuniensis.” This had an immense sale, and passed
through several editions. But the real start of the canal dates from
a meeting in The Towers, Didsbury, on June 27, 1882, summoned
by Mr. Daniel Adamson To him belongs the credit of launching
this great enterprise and courageously fighting its battles in Parlia-
ment against tremendous odds until victory was achieved. To this
meeting were invited the Mayors of Manchester and the surround-
ing towns, the heads of the principal commercial houses in the city,
the leaders of co-operative and labour movements, and several
well-known capitalists. A provisional committee was appointed,
and a guarantee fund started of 425,000 to cover preliminary
expenses. Councillor—Ilater Sir Bosdin—Leech raised the ques-
tion of aid from the rates in the Council, but although many alder-
men and ill ibuted p lly to the fund
the Corporation at this stage only gave moral support. With the
exception of the City News the Manchester Press was cautious in
its attitude, and in some cases even unfriendly to the scheme.

The provisional committee set to work with vigour, and held
public meetings all over the area. The scheme was supported by the
Corporations of Manchester and Salford, and by many of the
surrounding towns. The Manchester Chamber of Commerce also

1 History of the Manchestar Ship Canal, by Sir Bosdin Leech, vol. i, p. 8o.
RR
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agreed to support the Bill which the provisional committee were
promoting,

The chief opposition came from the Meisey Docks and Hatbour
Board and the railways, and although the Bill passed through the
House of Commons it was thrown out by the House of Lords.
The following yeat, 1884, a new Bill was introduced which passed
the Loids but was thrown out by the Commons, owing to the
united opposition of the Liverpool Corporation, the Liverpool
Chamber of Commerce and the Meisey Docks Board. The pro-
visional committee did not mecan to give up the fight, and the
Manchester City Council now gave practical proof of 1ts support
by the grant of £18,000—a 2d. 1ate—towards the Parlumentary
expenses? Salford and Warrington also contributed, and a third
Bill was introduced. In order to meet Liverpool’s opposition a
drastic alteration in the scheme was made, which necessitated the
construction of fifieen additional miles of canal. In spite of this
concession the Liverpool opposition continued, but this time the
Bill passed through both Houses of Parliament and received the
Royal Assent July 1885.

Great jubilation marked its passing, Mr. Adamson’s homecoming
was made the occasion {or a great demonstration, and the Corpora-
tion of Manchester invited him to a banquet in honour of the event.
Church bells were rung, flags were put out, and bands of music
paraded the streets, while a great trades procession, four miles in
length, was organized.

But money did not come in as quickly as the promoters had
hoped, and the opponents of the canal weie not idle. They ridiculed
the scheme and prophesied all manner of evil in order to frighten
investors. It was therefore decided in November 1885 to deposit
a Bill for the purpose of obtaining power to pay intercst during
construction, and this was passed in the following year. But still the
progress of the canal was hindered forwant of support. The situation
was now becoming desperate since if before the following August
(1887) a certain sum of capital was not raised, the time limit
fixed by Parliament would be passed, and the powers would lapse.
In order to restore public confidence in the scheme, it was decided
to appoint a Itati i entirely independent of the
Board of Directors and consisting of leading business men of

* City Council Minutes, October 29, 1884.
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influence, who were to go into the whole matter and report as to
its practicability and soundness, and also to advise as to the obtain-
ing of capital. The Mayor of Manchester! was made chairman, and
the i after a painstaking i igation, issued a favour-
able report on November 26, 1886.% As practical evidence of their
belief in the scheme the consultative committee agreed to put their
names down for £68,200. In the report it was made a condition
of success that the Board of Directors should be reconstituted and
strengthened. To this Mr, Adamson, the then chairman of the
company, took exception, and in consequence of differences of
optnion on this point between himself and his co-directors he retired
early in 1887. Without his dogged determination, it is said, the
Bill would never have been obtained, and the canal in all probability
never have heen constructed. His retirement ended his official
connection with the Ship Canal, but he continued to work for its
success until his death, which occurred early in 1890. Lord Egerton
was appointed charman in his stead. A canvass for funds was
organized, and well within the specified time the directors had
secured the necessary capital.? By the end of the year 1887 the
construction of the canal was started in earnest.

The early history of the canal was a record of calamity after
calamity. The perversity of man was overcome only to be followed
by that of Natwre. The death of the contractor in 1889 was followed
next year by disastrous floods which caused immense damage and
delayed the progress of the work.

Owing to this extra expense it was discovered in January 1891
that there was not sufficient capital to complete the work, and on
being approached the City Council finally agreed to advance
£3,000,000 and become debenture holders. In return for this
assistance it was thought desirable that the Corporation should
nominate five of the fifteen directors. Although at first it was
suggested that Salford should also assist to the extent of £1,000,000,
it was finally decided “to leave to Manchester all the honour, glory
and possible loss in the transaction.”

The Corporation’s Bill for power to assist the canal passed in
July 18971, and the money was raised by the issue by the Corporation

*Sir | J. Harwood.
* History of the Manchester Ship Canal, by Ste Bosdin Leech, vol. ti, p. 1.
* Ibud, vol. i, p. 6.
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of 3 per cent Debenture Stock. Five Corporation directors were
appointed on the Ship Canal Board.

There soon arose a divergence of opinion between the share-
holdets’ directors and those appointed by the Corporation, par-
ticularly Alderman Sir John Harwood and Councillor Southern.
The Cotporation directors had come to the conclusion that the
business was not being economically administered, and they felt
that a complete reconstiuction of the management was necessaty.
A repout submitted 1o the City Council to this effect in December
1891! cieated a great sensation, and the Press teemed with articles
and letters on the question.

The outcome was, however, an arrangement whercby the
executive or spending department of the Ship Canal was composed
of fowr durectors from the Manchester Corporation and three
shareholders’ directors, Sir John Haiwood being elected the
chairman of the committee. But even this plan was not successful
in enabling the canal to be constructed on the capital already
borrowed, including the three millions lent by the Corporation,
and in October 1892 the Council decided that Paliamentary powers
should be sought to advance a further two million pounds to
complete the canal, on 4} per cent debentures as befote, and that
in return for this aid the Corporation should ask for power to
nominate a further five directors on the Ship Canal Board, making
ten out of fifteen. The Board would not agree to this representation,
and suggested that the number of directors should be increased to
twenty-one, the Corporation having power to appoint eleven. The
relations between the canal company and the Corporation became
somewhat strained, and the situation complicated by a belated
offer from Salford and Oldham to lend one million pounds respec-
tively, and all three Corporations deposited Bills in Pailiament.
‘When the Bills came before a Select Committee of the Lords in
1893, however, agreement had been reached with the Manchester
Corporation, who made a firm offer of two millions. The city was
to be assured of a clear majority on the Board, and the election of
the Deputy Chairman was to vest in the Corporation until the loan
was paid ofl. Unless these terms were agreed to, the Corporation
had stated that they would not allow other loans to rank pari passu
with their first loan of three millions. Salford and Oldham, some-

* City Council Minutes, December 9, 18o1.
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what disgruntled, were obliged to withdraw their Bills, but as
some p for their disappo the Ship Canal Company
paid their expenses. The Corporation’s loan to the Ship Canal
Company was therefore increased to five million pounds.

After this good progress was made, and on January 1, 1894,
“hundreds of people were trooping about Albert Square to let in
the New Year and with the intention of commemotating the
opening of the Ship Canal.”* By the middle of January large
steamers laded with cotton had begun 10 arrive, and the Canal
was officially opened by Queen Victoria on May 21, 1894.

The troubles of the canal weie not yet over, however, for
a month later Sir John Harwood made a somewhat depressing
speech to the City Council which was followed by his resignation
from the directorate.

The canal, however, again emerged from its difficulties. In
December 1898 for the first time the Company was able to pay
out of revenue not only the whole of the interest on the first and
second debentures, but also a small proportion of the half-year’s
mterest due to the Corporation. It was hoped that this marked a
new era in the history of the Company, although it was thought
well “not to indulge in undue or premature elation as there 1s an
element of uncertainty in shipping matters.”®

From time to time since then the Corporation has come to the help
of the canal. In return for this help, the right of the Corporation
to appoint directors was continued in perpetuity, and the number
of these directors was always to exceed by one the number elected
Dby the shareholders. There are to-day twenty-one directors, eleven
appointed by the City Council, and ten elected by the shareholders.
The chawrman is elected by the shareholdeis’ directors and
the deputy-chairman by the Corporation directors. The City
Council fills any vacancy in its representation on the Board by
election, and for some years now there has heen an agreement
when a vacancy occurs to get proportional representation of
parties on the Ship Canal directorate. Within the political party
the question is generally settled by a vote of the caucus, and
although an impartial observer might sometimes wonder on what
principle the final selection is made, the system works satisfactorily.

1 Hustory of she Manchester Shp Canal, by Sir Bosdin I eech, val. 1, pp. 136 and 188.
* Ciiy Council Minutes, March 1, 1899.



